

p-ISSN: 2520-0348 | e-ISSN: 2616-793X

DOI(Journal): 10.31703/gssr DOI(Volume): 10.31703/gssr/.2024(IX) DOI(Issue): 10.31703/gssr.2024(IX.IV)

DOI(Journal): 10.31703/gssr,2024(IX)
DOI(Volume): 10.31703/gssr,2024(IX))
DOI(Issue): 10.31703/gssr,2024(IXI)

# GLOBAL SOCIAL SCIENCES REVIEW HEC-RECOGNIZED CATEGORY-Y

**VOL. IX, ISSUE IV, FALL (DECEMBER-2024)** 





# Humanity Publications Sharing research US | UK | Paksta

# Humanity Publications(HumaPub)

www.humapub.com
Doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.31703



## **Article Title**

Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan

#### Global Social Sciences Review

**p-ISSN**: 2520-0348 **e-ISSN**: 2616-793x

DOI(journal):10.31703/gssr

Volume: IX (2024)

DOI (volume):10.31703/gssr.2024(IX)

Issue: IV Fall (December 2024)

DOI(Issue):10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV)

**Home Page** 

www.gssrjournal.com

Volume: IX (2024)

https://www.gssrjournal.com/Current-issues

Issue: IV-Fall (June-2024)

https://www.gssrjournal.com/Current-issues/9/4/2024

Scope

https://www.gssrjournal.com/about-us/scope

**Submission** 

https://humaglobe.com/index.php/gssr/submissions

Google Scholar



Visit Us



# **Abstract**

Gender inequality poses a challenge to the educational participation of teenage-girls in Jhelum Pakistan. This paper seeks to examine the complex factors underpinning and the extensive effects of gender inequalities in education within this area. The present study details various causes of gender inequalities as analyzed from a qualitative content analysis of various works, which include economic factors, socialcultural beliefs and practices; early marriage, lack of awareness, physical facilities, and gender biases. This study finds that all these factors work together to exclude girls from education and maintain poverty and non-advancement of socio-economic status. Finally, the discussion highlights the need to establish various strategies to address gender inequality, such as; community sensitization, increasing the percentage of girls education, finances, establishing safe school structures, and favorable laws on gender. The solution to these recommendations would help Jhelum move towards the right direction for giving teenage-girls equal education opportunities and better community.

**Keywords:** Gender Inequality, Women Empowerment through Education, Teenage Girls, Jhelum, Social and Cultural Norms, Early Marriage, Economic Challenges, Gender Stereotypes, Educational Access, Financial Support, and Legal Reforms

# **Authors:**

Sana Amjad:(Corresponding Author)

Lecturer, Department of Pakistan Studies, National University of Modern Languages (NUML), Islamabad, Pakistan.

(Email: <a href="mailto:sanaamjad@numl.edu.pk">sanaamjad@numl.edu.pk</a>)



Pages: 1-10

DOI:10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01

DOI link;https://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01
Article link: http://www.gssrjournal.com/article/A-b-c

Full-text Link: <a href="https://gssrjournal.com/fulltext/">https://gssrjournal.com/fulltext/</a>

Pdf link: https://www.gssrjournal.com/jadmin/Auther/31rvIolA2.pdf





# Humanity Publications Thating research Www.humapub.com USI UK I Pakista

# **Humanity Publications (HumaPub)**

www.humapub.com

Doi: https://dx.doi.org/10.31703



# Citing this Article

01	Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan						
	Author	Sana Amjad		DOI	10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01		
Pages	1-10	Year	2024	Volume	IX	Issue	IV
Referencing & Citing Styles	APA 7 <sup>th</sup>	Amjad, S. (2024). Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan. <i>Global Social Sciences Review</i> , <i>IX</i> (IV), 1-10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01">https://doi.org/10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01</a>					
	CHICAGO	Amjad, Sana. 2024. "Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan." <i>Global Social Sciences Review</i> IX (IV):1-10. doi: 10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01.					
	HARVARD	AMJAD, S. 2024. Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan. <i>Global Social Sciences Review</i> , IX, 1-10.					
	MHRA	Amjad, Sana. 2024. 'Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan', <i>Global Social Sciences Review</i> , IX: 1-10.					
	MLA	Amjad, Sana. "Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan." <i>Global Social Sciences Review</i> IX.IV (2024): 1-10. Print.					
	OXFORD	Amjad, Sana (2024), 'Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan', <i>Global Social Sciences Review</i> , IX (IV), 1-10.					
	TURABIAN	Amjad, Sana. "Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan." <i>Global Social Sciences Review</i> IX, no. IV (2024): 1-10. <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01">https://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01</a> .					



# **Global Social Sciences Review**

www.gssrjournal.com DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.31703/gssr



Pages: 1-10

URL: https://doi.org/10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01

Doi: 10.31703/gssr.2024(IX-IV).01











# **Title**

# Empowering Futures: The Impact of Cultural, Social, and Economic Disparities on Girls' Education in Jhelum, Pakistan

# **Authors:**

# Sana Amjad:(Corresponding Author)

Lecturer, Department of Pakistan Studies, National University of Modern Languages (Numl), Islamabad, Pakistan.

(Email: sanaamjad@numl.edu.pk)

#### Contents

- Introduction
- **Research Questions**
- **Supplementary Research Questions**
- Research Methodology
- **Data Collection**
- Secondary Data
- **Literature Review**
- **Data Analysis**
- **Health Threats** Religious Extremism
- **Discussion And Conclusion:**
- Conclusion
- Recommendations:
- **Teacher Training**
- Legal Reforms
- Suppress Religious Extremism
- **Enhancement of Economic Conditions**
- **Health Opportunities**
- References

# Abstract

Gender inequality poses a challenge to the educational participation of teenage-girls in Jhelum Pakistan. This paper seeks to examine the complex factors underpinning and the extensive effects of gender inequalities in education within this area. The present study details various causes of gender inequalities as analyzed from a qualitative content analysis of various works, which include economic factors, social-cultural beliefs and practices; early marriage, lack of awareness, physical facilities, and gender biases. This study finds that all these factors work together to exclude girls from education and maintain poverty and non-advancement of socio-economic status. Finally, the discussion highlights the need to establish various strategies to address gender inequality, such as; community sensitization, increasing the percentage of girls education, finances, establishing safe school structures, and favorable laws on gender. The solution to these recommendations would help Jhelum move towards the right direction for giving teenage-girls equal education opportunities and better community.

Keywords: Gender Inequality, Women Empowerment through Education, Teenage Girls, Jhelum, Social and Cultural Norms, Early Marriage, Economic Challenges, Gender Stereotypes, Educational Access, Financial Support, Legal Reforms

# Introduction

Gender inequality, a pervasive issue worldwide, manifests in various social, economic, and political domains, often favoring men over women. This disparity is deeply rooted in cultural and social norms that perpetuate unequal access to education, employment, healthcare. and opportunities for women. In many societies, these





inequalities are reinforced by stereotypes that dictate how women should behave, limiting their roles and opportunities (Dahal et al., 2022).

In the context of education, gender inequality is particularly troubling. Despite some progress in recent years, girls and women, especially in developing countries, continue to face significant barriers to quality education. Societal norms, economic constraints, and practices like early marriage often hinder girls' access to education. Even when teenage girls do enroll in educational institutions, they frequently encounter genderbased violence and harassment, leading to higher (Small Rodgers, dropout rates & 2023). Furthermore. there is а marked underrepresentation of women in STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics) fields, largely due to entrenched biases and stereotypes that discourage girls from pursuing higher education in these areas. Girls with disabilities face greater challenges, experiencing discrimination not only because of their gender but also due to their physical or cognitive impairments (Kuteesa et al., 2024).

In Pakistan, gender inequality in education is a significant issue that profoundly impacts the country's political and economic landscape. Despite efforts to improve access to education for girls, substantial disparities remain. Traditional social norms and economic factors often prevent girls, especially in rural areas, from enrolling in and completing their education. Early marriage and limited beyond domestic opportunities responsibilities further exacerbate gender inequality. The quality of education is also affected by these disparities, with girls often receiving substandard instruction compared to boys. The lack of female teachers, insufficient educational infrastructure, and the prevalence of gender-based violence in schools create an unwelcoming learning environment for girls (Nazli & Noman, 2023).

The district of Jhelum, located in Punjab, exemplifies the severe gender disparities in education that persist across Pakistan. Known historically for its military contributions, Jhelum is a region where traditional patriarchal values remain deeply ingrained, severely limiting educational opportunities for girls. Teenage girls in Jhelum often face significant barriers to education, beginning at the primary level and intensifying as

they reach adolescence. Many girls are unable to continue their education beyond middle school or matriculation due to societal expectations that prioritize their roles as caretakers and brides over their academic and professional development. Economic challenges compound these expectations, as families often prioritize the education of sons over daughters, viewing an investment in girls' education as less valuable (U. Ahmed et al., 2020).

The educational infrastructure in Jhelum is also marked by disparities. Schools in rural areas are often poorly equipped and lack basic facilities such as separate restrooms for girls, which discourages attendance and contributes to higher dropout rates. The scarcity of female teachers further exacerbates the issue, as parents are reluctant to their daughters to schools staffed send predominantly by male teachers. Moreover. gender-based violence, including harassment and intimidation in and around schools, creates an unsafe environment that deters girls from pursuing their education (IPRI, 2015).

Empowering teenage girls in Jhelum through education is crucial for fostering social progress and reducing gender inequality. Addressing this problem is critical for adopting gender equality, promoting social justice, and ensuring a brighter future for the teenage girls in Jhelum, Pakistan. Hence, this research aims to highlight the causes, and impacts of gender inequality on the education of young women of Jhelum and propose actionable recommendations to enhance their educational prospects and foster social progression.

# Statement of Problem

In Jhelum, Pakistan, gender inequality significantly impedes teenage girls' access to quality education. Despite efforts to improve educational access, girls face persistent barriers such as restrictive social norms, stereotyped mindsets of society, limited economic resources, early marriage, and gender-based violence. These challenges contribute to low enrollment and high dropout rates among girls, exacerbating social and economic disparities. This research aims to identify the specific factors contributing to educational gender inequality in Jhelum and propose targeted strategies to enhance

educational opportunities and empower teenage girls in the region.

# **Research Questions**

How do the key social, cultural, and economic gender disparities in education affect the educational opportunities and overall empowerment of teenage girls in Jhelum, Pakistan?

# **Supplementary Research Questions**

- What are the primary cultural, social, and economic causes hindering teenage girls' access to education in Jhelum?
- 2. What are the impacts of gender inequality on the education of teen-age girls in Jhelum?
- 3. What could be the possible recommendations to reduce Gender inequality in Jhelum?

# Significance of Study

This research on "Gender Inequality and Education: Empowering Teenage Girls in Jhelum, Pakistan" is particularly significant for addressing the pressing issue of gender disparity in education within this underdeveloped district. Jhelum, a remote area where gender discrimination in education is prevalent, faces unique cultural, social, and religious constraints that hinder educational access for teenage girls (Rizwana et al., 2021). This study aims to identify these specific barriers and challenges that prevent girls from obtaining an education.

The research provides valuable insights into the constraints faced by girls in Jhelum and proposes actionable solutions to overcome these obstacles. By focusing on these localized issues, the study will offer evidence-based recommendations for policymakers and organizations to improve educational access and gender equity.

Additionally, the study seeks to raise awareness within the local community about the critical importance of education for women. By highlighting the benefits of female education, the research aims to foster community support and drive meaningful change in attitudes toward women's educational opportunities.

Furthermore, this research contributes to the broader academic discourse by offering a case study from a less-explored region. It enhances our understanding of gender inequality in rural settings

and provides insights applicable to similar contexts globally.

In summary, the study is essential for addressing gender-based educational disparities, influencing local attitudes, and informing policy improvements, all of which are crucial for empowering teenage girls in Jhelum and promoting broader social progress.

# **Research Methodology**

The research adopted a qualitative and exploratory approach to explore gender inequality in education and strategies for empowering teenage girls in Jhelum, Pakistan. The study aimed to delve into the religious, cultural, and socio-economic stereotypes impacting educational opportunities for girls in the region. It also highlighted the efforts made by local communities, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), and government agencies to improve educational access and quality for teenage girls in Ihelum.

## **Data Collection**

Data collection for the study involved secondary sources:

# **Secondary Data**

Literature Review: Secondary data were gathered from existing literature, including academic journals, books, and research papers related to gender inequality in education and regional studies on Jhelum.

Reports and Media: Relevant reports from NGOs, government publications, and news articles from both local and national media were reviewed to understand the broader context and recent developments in educational policies and gender issues.

# **Qualitative Content Analysis**

The study utilized "Qualitative Content Analysis" to systematically interpret the data collected (Schreier, 2013). This method involved:

Coding: Textual data from secondary sources were coded to identify recurring themes and patterns related to gender inequality and educational barriers.

Categorization: Codes were organized into categories and subcategories to structure the data and reveal key insights.

Thematic Analysis: The categorized data were analyzed to uncover underlying themes and connections. This analysis helped in answering the research questions and providing a comprehensive understanding of the educational challenges and opportunities for teenage girls in Jhelum.

The qualitative approach was chosen for its ability to capture the nuances of personal experiences and social contexts that quantitative methods might overlook. By focusing on in-depth narratives and thematic patterns, the study provided a rich and detailed perspective on gender inequality in education and the empowerment of teenage girls in Jhelum.

# Literature Review

Education is universally recognized as a fundamental right and a critical lever for social and economic development. However, in other areas of the world, including Jhelum, Pakistan, access to education for girls remains a significant challenge. Despite global commitments to gender equality, disparities in educational opportunities persist, deeply entrenched in cultural, social, and economic inequalities. This literature review explores these multifaceted barriers in the context of Jhelum, examining how they hinder the educational progress and empowerment of teenage girls in the region.

# **Cultural Barriers**

Cultural norms and traditional gender roles are among the most significant impediments to girls' education in Jhelum. Societal expectations often dictate that girls should prioritize domestic responsibilities over academic pursuits, a belief deeply rooted in patriarchal values. Research indicates that in many rural areas, including Jhelum, girls are frequently taken out of school to help with household chores or to be prepared for early marriage. (Lebni et al., 2023). This cultural expectation not only limits girls' educational opportunities but also reinforces the cycle of poverty and dependence, as uneducated girls are less likely to secure employment or contribute economically outside the home.

Cultural attitudes toward female education are shaped by concerns about family honor and social reputation, in addition to household responsibilities. The concept of "purdah" (seclusion) is often cited as a reason for restricting girls' movement outside the home, including attending school (S. Ahmed, 2020). Families may fear that allowing girls to travel to distant schools could lead to harassment or social scrutiny, further discouraging them from pursuing education. These cultural barriers are exacerbated by the lack of inadequate female teachers and school infrastructure, which fails to provide a safe and supportive learning environment for girls.

# **Social Barriers**

Social barriers to girls' education in Jhelum are closely linked to cultural norms but also involve broader societal issues such as gender-based violence, early marriage, and limited access to health services. Gender-based violence, including harassment and abuse, is a pervasive issue that affects girls' ability to attend school regularly and perform well academically (Gul et al., 2022). The fear of violence, both within and outside the school environment, often leads to absenteeism and dropout, with long-term consequences for girls' education and empowerment.

Early marriage is another significant social barrier, with profound implications for girls' education. In many areas of Pakistan, including Jhelum, girls are often married off at a young age, cutting short their education and limiting their future opportunities (Asif, 2018). Poverty, cultural traditions, and societal pressures drive early marriage, perpetuating a cycle of gender inequality by denying girls the chance to complete their education and achieve economic independence.

Moreover, the lack of access to health services, particularly reproductive health education, contributes to the social barriers faced by girls in Jhelum. Without adequate health education, girls are more likely to experience early pregnancies, which further disrupt their education and limit their life choices (Janighorban et al., 2022). The intersection of these social barriers creates a complex web of challenges that prevent girls from accessing and benefiting from education, ultimately undermining their empowerment and participation in society.

# **Economic Barriers**

Economic disparities are a critical factor influencing girls' education in Jhelum. Poverty is a pervasive issue in the region, with many families struggling to meet basic needs. In such contexts, the expense of education, encompassing tuition fees, uniforms, books, and transportation, can be prohibitively high for low-income families (World Bank, 2024). As a result, poor families often prioritize boys' education, who are perceived as future breadwinners, over girls, who are expected to marry and leave the household.

The opportunity cost of sending girls to school is another significant economic barrier. In families where every member's contribution to household income is vital, keeping girls at home to help with work or care for younger siblings is often seen as more valuable than investing in their education (Tajammal et al., 2023). This economic rationale, rooted in gendered expectations, perpetuates the cycle of poverty and limits girls' access to education.

Furthermore, the lack of government support and social safety nets exacerbates the economic challenges faced by girls and their families. While some initiatives, such as conditional cash transfers and scholarships for girls, have shown promise in increasing enrollment rates, these programs are often insufficiently funded and fail to reach the most marginalized communities (Reimers, 2006). The economic barriers to girls' education in Jhelum are thus deeply intertwined with broader issues of poverty, inequality, and social exclusion.

# Impacts of Disparities on Girls' Education and Empowerment

The cumulative effect of these cultural, social, and economic disparities is a significant gender gap in education in Jhelum. Girls who are denied education are less likely to participate in the formal economy, access healthcare, or contribute to decision-making processes within their families and communities (Arshad, 2023). This not only limits their potential but also hinders the broader social and economic development of the region.

Moreover, the lack of education perpetuates gender inequality by reinforcing traditional gender roles and limiting girls' ability to challenge these norms. Without education, girls are more vulnerable to exploitation, abuse, and discrimination, and are less likely to advocate for their rights or participate in public life (Kirk & Garrow, 2003). The empowerment of girls through education is thus critical to breaking the cycle of inequality and ensuring that they can fully participate in and contribute to society.

To conclude, the literature underscores the complex and interrelated nature of the barriers to girls' education in Jhelum. Cultural, social, and economic disparities work in tandem to limit girls' access to education, with profound implications for their empowerment and the development of their communities. Addressing these barriers requires a and comprehensive multi-faceted approach, including policy reforms, community engagement, and targeted interventions to support girls' education. By tackling these issues, it is possible to create a more equitable educational landscape in Jhelum, empowering girls to achieve their full potential and contribute to the future of their region.

# **Data Analysis**

The qualitative content analysis of the data provided on gender inequality's impact on teenage girls in Jhelum reveals a complex interplay of social, cultural, and economic factors that collectively inhibit educational opportunities for this demographic. This analysis synthesizes the key themes identified in the data, focusing on the causes and impacts of gender inequality as they relate to the educational experiences and overall empowerment of teenage girls in Jhelum.

# Causes of Gender Inequality: Social and Cultural Norms

Social and cultural norms significantly influence the educational landscape for girls in Jhelum. Traditional values and deep-seated beliefs prioritize boys' education over girls', reflecting a broader cultural perception that devalues girls' educational achievements. This cultural bias is corroborated by existing literature which indicates that entrenched gender roles and societal expectations contribute to the educational divide (Rana et al., 2022). The analysis underscores how these norms reinforce domestic roles for girls, thereby limiting their educational pursuits and perpetuating gender disparities.

# **Early Marriage**

Early marriage emerges as a critical barrier to educational attainment for teenage girls in Jhelum. The data indicates that early marriages often result in premature pregnancies, leading to higher school dropout rates and increased poverty (UNICEF, 2005). This analysis highlights the cyclical nature of early marriage and educational disruption, emphasizing how early marriage not only interrupts educational progress but also reinforces cycles of poverty and gender inequality.

# **Economic Challenges**

Economic challenges play a crucial role in limiting girls' access to education. Financial constraints often lead families to prioritize the education of boys, viewing the costs associated with girls' schooling as an additional burden (Bangura & Mambo, 2023). The analysis reveals how economic instability exacerbates educational disparities by increasing child labor and reducing the financial resources available for girls' education.

# **Lack of Awareness**

The lack of awareness regarding the benefits of girls' education further perpetuates gender inequality. The data reveals that insufficient understanding of the long-term advantages of educating girls leads to limited community support and reinforces traditional gender biases (Pasha, 2023). The analysis highlights the role of community awareness in shaping attitudes towards girls' education and its impact on educational access.

# Lack of Infrastructural Development

Infrastructural inadequacies are a significant barrier to girls' education in Jhelum. The analysis of the data shows that the lack of appropriate schools, transportation, and facilities tailored to female students impedes educational participation (Naz & Poor infrastructure, Khan, 2013). including insufficient sanitation facilities and unsafe transportation options, contributes to irregular school attendance and adversely affects educational outcomes.

# **Gender Stereotypes**

Gender stereotypes contribute to the educational

limitations faced by girls in Jhelum. Cultural norms and biases often restrict girls' aspirations and devalue their academic pursuits (Jin, 2023). The analysis illustrates how traditional gender roles and stereotypes create a biased educational environment that undermines girls' potential and reinforces educational inequalities.

# **Insufficient Role Models**

The scarcity of female role models in Jhelum limits girls' educational aspirations. The absence of visible, successful women affects girls' ability to envision academic and professional success (Herrmann et al., 2016). The data analysis highlights the importance of role models in motivating and inspiring girls, underscoring the need for initiatives that provide mentorship and showcase successful female figures.

# Impacts of Gender Inequality Uneducated Society

The data reveals that an uneducated society significantly impacts the education of teenage girls in Jhelum. Illiteracy perpetuates gender disparities by fostering limited awareness about the value of girls' education. Traditional beliefs that prioritize boys' education contribute to cycles of poverty and restrict educational opportunities for females (Saira Samo, 2023). The analysis emphasizes how the prevailing lack of understanding about girls' education leads to early marriages and minimal investment in their schooling.

# **Health Threats**

Health issues, particularly those related to poor sanitation and hygiene, profoundly affect girls' educational prospects in Jhelum. The analysis highlights how high rates of illness linked to inadequate sanitation result in frequent school absences. Limited access to healthcare services and resources for menstrual hygiene management further exacerbates the situation, contributing to reduced school attendance among girls (Nasrullah & Bhatti, n.d.).

# **Deprivation of Basic Rights**

The deprivation of basic rights, including access to education, is a critical issue affecting teenage girls in Jhelum. With approximately 90% of girls out of

school, the data indicates a severe lack of governmental focus and intervention (Watch, 2018). The analysis underscores how the absence of fundamental educational rights stifles girls' potential and perpetuates social inequalities, limiting their contributions to their communities.

# **Violence and Abuse**

Violence and abuse against girls in Jhelum severely impact their educational experiences. The analysis shows that physical and emotional trauma from violence often leads to increased school absenteeism and diminished academic performance. Fear of violence may deter girls from school, further restricting attending educational opportunities. Cultural norms that perpetuate gender-based violence contribute to the challenges faced by girls in pursuing their education (Abbas et al., 2024).

# **Limited Educational Opportunities**

Gender inequality significantly restricts educational opportunities for teenage girls in Jhelum. Limited access to education for girls is largely influenced by cultural norms and traditional gender roles. The shortage of schools with adequate facilities and safe environments further exacerbates the issue, discouraging families from sending their daughters to school. The analysis highlights how these factors result in lower educational attainment and restricted career prospects for girls (Nazli & Noman, 2023).

# **Religious Extremism**

Religious extremism plays a role in perpetuating gender inequality in Jhelum. The data reveals that extremist ideologies and groups compound the marginalization of women, despite constitutional guarantees of equal rights. Traditional and religious beliefs often restrict women's participation in public and political life, including their access to education. The analysis emphasizes how these beliefs create additional barriers to gender equality and educational opportunities for girls (UN, 2019).

# **Discussion And Conclusion:**

# Discussion

The analysis of gender inequality in teenage girls' education in Jhelum reveals a complex interplay of

factors that perpetuate disparities in educational opportunities. Social and cultural norms, deeply rooted in traditional beliefs, prioritize boys' education, undermining the value of girls' schooling. Early marriages further exacerbate this issue by leading to premature pregnancies and school dropouts, trapping girls in cycles of poverty. Economic challenges also play a significant role, as financial constraints often force families to prioritize boys' education, leaving girls to contribute to household income instead of attending school.

Moreover, a lack of awareness about the long-term benefits of educating girls perpetuates traditional gender roles, while inadequate infrastructure, such as unsafe transportation and poor sanitation facilities, hampers girls' ability to attend school regularly. Gender stereotypes and cultural biases that emphasize domestic roles for women limit girls' aspirations and educational opportunities. The absence of successful female role models in the community further restricts girls' ambitions, making it difficult for them to envision a future beyond traditional roles.

These barriers have far-reaching consequences, contributing to an uneducated society, health risks, deprivation of basic rights, and economic instability. The challenges are compounded by violence, abuse, and religious extremism, which further entrench gender inequalities. Addressing these issues requires comprehensive strategies that target the root causes of gender disparity and empower girls through education.

# Conclusion

Gender inequality in education remains a critical issue in Jhelum, Punjab, with teenage girls facing significant barriers to accessing and completing their education. Social norms, early marriage, economic constraints, and inadequate infrastructure are central factors contributing to this disparity. The impact of these issues is extensive, affecting not only individual lives but also broader societal development.

Addressing these challenges requires a holistic approach that includes educational awareness, financial support, improved infrastructure, and community engagement. Legal reforms and efforts to suppress religious extremism are also crucial in creating an environment where gender equality can

flourish. By implementing targeted interventions and fostering collaboration among local authorities, educational institutions, and community organizations, Jhelum can work towards reducing gender disparities and improving educational outcomes for teenage girls.

# **Recommendations:**

# **Educational Awareness**

Conduct seminars, webinars, and career counseling sessions to raise awareness about the benefits of girls' education. Focus on issues such as gender equality, women's rights, and combating early marriage. Both provincial and federal governments should support these initiatives to challenge traditional norms and promote higher education for girls.

# **Easy Access to Education**

Improve access to education by providing scholarships for girls, ensuring safe transportation, and establishing more schools. Community awareness programs should challenge traditional gender norms and promote the value of education for all.

# **Financial Support**

Implement financial assistance programs to cover the costs of education for girls, including scholarships and subsidies for uniforms and books. This support should help families prioritize education for their daughters and alleviate economic barriers.

# **Teacher Training**

Provide gender sensitivity training for teachers to foster equitable teaching practices and challenge gender biases. Encourage the inclusion of diverse role models and support fair classroom interactions.

# Women Empowerment

Strengthen women's roles through educational

programs, financial support, and leadership opportunities. Empower women to advocate for gender equality and challenge traditional gender roles.

# **Skill Development**

Prioritize skill development initiatives for both genders. Encourage women to pursue careers in diverse fields and break gender stereotypes through targeted training and mentorship programs.

# **Legal Reforms**

Enact and enforce strict laws against gender-based violence and discrimination. Ensure gender parity in education, employment, and political representation through affirmative action policies and legal reforms.

# **Suppress Religious Extremism**

Address the impact of religious extremism on girls' education by promoting gender equality and challenging extremist ideologies. Support educational programs that foster inclusive and progressive views.

# **Enhancement of Economic Conditions**

Improve economic opportunities for women and girls by recognizing and valuing their contributions to the economy. Develop policies that address gender disparities in economic participation and support women's economic empowerment.

# **Health Opportunities**

Invest in health infrastructure to support the wellbeing of teenage girls. Ensure access to healthcare services and sanitation facilities to reduce healthrelated barriers to education.

By adopting these recommendations, Jhelum can make significant strides towards reducing gender inequality in education, fostering a more inclusive and equitable society.

# References

- Abbas, N., Naqvi, S. A., & Mahmood, S. (2024). Health status, violence, and abuse of neglected children in the Punjab, Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Law, Analysis and Wisdom*, 3(4), 145–161.
  - Google Scholar WorldCat Fulltext
- AHMED, S. (2020). WOMEN LEFT BEHIND: Migration, Agency, and the Pakistani Woman. *Gender and Society*, 34(4), 597–619. <a href="https://www.jstor.org/stable/26967144">https://www.jstor.org/stable/26967144</a>
  <a href="Google Scholar">Google Scholar</a>
  <a href="Worldcat">Worldcat</a>
  <a href="Fulltext">Fulltext</a>
- Ahmed, U., Yasin, G., Lak, T. A., Mushtaq, S. K., & Hussain, M. (2020). Reproduction of gender inequality in family discourse: A case study of rural areas of district Jahlim, Pakistan. *PalArch's Journal of Archaeology of Egypt / Egyptology*, 17(15), 98–109. <a href="https://archives.palarch.nl/index.php/jae/article/view/9951">https://archives.palarch.nl/index.php/jae/article/view/9951</a>
  - Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Arshad, R. (2023). ADDRESSING GENDER DISPARITIES IN EDUCATION: EMPOWERING GIRLS THROUGH EDUCATION IN PAKISTAN. Russian Law Journal, 11(128). https://doi.org/10.52783/rlj.v11i128.19
  - Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Asif, U. (2018, June 15). Early Marriage Puts a Stop to a Girl's Education—We Need Laws that Protect Underage Girls. Their world. https://theirworld.org/news/child-marriage-laws-needed-in-pakistan-to-protect-girls-school-education
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Bangura, P. S., & Mambo, A. W. (2023). Barriers to Female Education and its Impact on Slow Socio-Economic Development of the Family: A Case of Africa International University. Research Journal of Education Teaching and Curriculum Studies, 1(1), 23–36. <a href="https://doi.org/10.58721/rjetcs.vvii1.280">https://doi.org/10.58721/rjetcs.vvii1.280</a>
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Dahal, P., Joshi, S. K., & Swahnberg, K. (2022). A qualitative study on gender inequality and gender-based violence in Nepal. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1). <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-14389-x">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-14389-x</a> <a href="Google Scholar">Google Scholar</a> <a href="Worldcat">Worldcat</a> <a href="Fulltext">Fulltext</a>
- Gul, M., Ahmad, F., Zaidi, K. A., & Gull, S. (2022).

  Perception of Females Regarding Gender-Based
  Violence in Jhelum, Pakistan. Pakistan Journal of
  Medical & Health Sciences, 16(11), 560–563.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.53350/pjmhs20221611560">https://doi.org/10.53350/pjmhs20221611560</a>
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext

- Herrmann, S. D., Adelman, R. M., Bodford, J. E., Graudejus, O., Okun, M. A., & Kwan, V. S. Y. (2016). The effects of a female role model on academic performance and persistence of women in STEM courses. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 38(5), 258–268.
  - https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2016.1209757 Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- IPRI. (2015, March 2). Education System of Pakistan:
  Issues, Problems and Solutions. IPRI Islamabad
  Policy Research Institute.
  https://ipripak.org/education-system-of-pakistanissues-problems-and-solutions/
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Janighorban, M., Boroumandfar, Z., Pourkazemi, R., & Mostafavi, F. (2022). Barriers to vulnerable adolescent girls' access to sexual and reproductive health. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-14687-4
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Jin, X. (2023). How gender stereotype in education impact female students' development in secondary school. *Journal of Education Humanities and Social Sciences*, 12, 229–234. <a href="https://doi.org/10.54097/ehss.v12i.7644">https://doi.org/10.54097/ehss.v12i.7644</a>
  <a href="Google Scholar">Google Scholar</a> Worldcat Fulltext</a>
- Kirk, J., & Stephanie Garrow. (2003). "Girls in Policy": Challenges for the Education Sector. *Agenda:* Empowering Women for Gender Equity, 56, 4–15. <a href="http://www.jstor.org/stable/4066359">http://www.jstor.org/stable/4066359</a> Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Kuteesa, N. K. N., Akpuokwe, N. C. U., & Udeh, N. C. A. (2024). GENDER EQUITY IN EDUCATION: ADDRESSING CHALLENGES AND PROMOTING OPPORTUNITIES FOR SOCIAL EMPOWERMENT. International Journal of Applied Research in Social Sciences, 6(4), 631–641. https://doi.org/10.51594/ijarss.v6i4.1034
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Lebni, J. Y., Solhi, M., Azar, F. E. F., Farahani, F. K., & Irandoost, S. F. (2023). Exploring the Consequences of Early Marriage: A Conventional Content analysis. *INQUIRY the Journal of Health Care Organization Provision and Financing*, 60, 004695802311599. https://doi.org/10.1177/00469580231159963
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Nasrullah, M., & Bhatti, J. A. (n.d.). Gender Inequalities and Poor Health Outcomes in Pakistan: A Need of Priority for the National Health Research Agenda.

  <u>Google Scholar</u> <u>Worldcat</u> <u>Fulltext</u>

Vol. IX, No. IV (Fall 2024)

- Naz, A., & Khan, W. (2013). Physical and Infrastructural Obstacles to Women's Education in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Pakistan. 7, 139–145. Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Nazli, K., & Noman, S. (2023). Exploring the factors Influencing Gender Disparity in STEM Education: A Comprehensive analysis of societal, cultural, and economic impact. *Pakistan Social Sciences Review*, 7(IV). <a href="https://doi.org/10.35484/pssr.2023(7-iv)15">https://doi.org/10.35484/pssr.2023(7-iv)15</a> Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Pasha, H. K. (2023). Gender differences in education: Are girls neglected in Pakistani society? *Journal of the Knowledge Economy*, 15(1), 3466–3511. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/S13132-023-01222-y">https://doi.org/10.1007/S13132-023-01222-y</a>
  <a href="Google Scholar">Google Scholar</a>
  <a href="Worldcat">Worldcat</a>
  <a href="Fulltext">Fulltext</a>
- Rana, Q. (2022). Gender inequality in Pakistan: an assessment. *Pakistan Social Sciences Review*, 6(II). <a href="https://doi.org/10.35484/pssr.2022(6-ii)20">https://doi.org/10.35484/pssr.2022(6-ii)20</a>
  <a href="mailto:Google Scholar">Google Scholar</a>
  <a href="Worldcat">Worldcat</a>
  <a href="mailto:Fulltext">Fulltext</a>
- Reimers, F. (2006). Where is the "Education" in Conditional Cash Transfers in Education? *UNESCO*.

  <u>Google Scholar</u> <u>Worldcat</u> <u>Fulltext</u>
- Rizwana, Afzal, A., Safdar, S., & Hasan, S. (2021). Barriers to Female Education in Rural Areas: A Case Study of District Gujranwala, Punjab, Pakistan. *Elementary Education Online*, 20(4).

  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Saira Samo. (2023). The Need to Bridge the Gender Gap in Literacy. *The Express Tribune*. https://tribune.com.pk/story/2431348/the-need-tobridge-gender-gap-in-literacy Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext

- Schreier, M. (2013). Qualitative content analysis in practice. In M. Schreier (Ed.), Qualitative data analysis (pp. 170-183). Sage Publications.

  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Small, S. F., & Van Der Meulen Rodgers, Y. (2023). The gendered effects of investing in physical and social infrastructure. *World Development*, 171, 106347. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2023.106347">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2023.106347</a> <a href="mailto:Google Scholar">Google Scholar</a> <a href="Worldcat">Worldcat</a> <a href="mailto:Fulltext">Fulltext</a>
- Tajammal, F., Arun, S., & Pourmehdi, M. (2023). Why invest in girls' education? Evidence from the girl stipend programme in Pakistan. *Equity in Education & Society*, 275264612311756. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/27526461231175688">https://doi.org/10.1177/27526461231175688</a>
  <a href="Google Scholar">Google Scholar</a>
  <a href="Worldcat">Worldcat</a>
  <a href="Fulltext">Fulltext</a>
- UN, T. (2019). Gender Dimensions of Criminal Justice Responses to Terrorism. *United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime*. Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- UNICEF, T. (2005). Early Marriage: A Harmful Traditional Practice. https://data.unicef.org/resources/early-marriage-a-traditional-harmful-practice-a-statistical-exploration/
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- Watch, H. R. (2018). Pakistan: Girls Deprived of Education. *Human Rights Watch*. https://www.hrw.org/news/2018/11/12/pakistangirls-deprived-education

  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext
- World Bank, T. (2024, June). Five major challenges to girls' education in Pakistan. https://datatopics.worldbank.org/dataviz/girls-education-pakistan/
  Google Scholar Worldcat Fulltext